

STATE BOARD OF EDUCATION TRUSTEES OF BOISE STATE UNIVERSITY TRUSTEES OF IDAHO STATE UNIVERSITY TRUSTEES OF LEWIS-CLARK STATE COLLEGE BOARD OF REGENTS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF IDAHO STATE BOARD FOR PROFESSIONAL-TECHNICAL EDUCATION

**APPROVED MINUTES** STATE BOARD OF EDUCATION April 20-21, 2011 University of Idaho Student Union Building, Ballroom Moscow, ID

A regularly scheduled meeting of the State Board of Education was held April 20-21, 2011 at the University of Idaho in Moscow, Idaho.

### Present:

Richard Westerberg, President Don Soltman, Secretary Bill Goesling Tom Luna, State Superintendent

Ken Edmunds, Vice President Emma Atchley Milford Terrell

### Absent:

Rod Lewis

### Wednesday, April 20, 2011

Board President Westerberg called the meeting to order at 9:00 a.m. He introduced the newly appointed Board member, Bill Goesling and welcomed him to the Board. Mr. Goesling took a few minutes to share about his background and experiences.

# **BOARDWORK**

### 1. Agenda Review

M/S Edmunds/Soltman: To approve the agenda as printed. Motion carried unanimously.

# 2. Minutes Review

M/S (Edmunds/Atchley: To approve the minutes from the February 16-17, 2011 Regular Board meeting, and the March 11, 2011 Special Board meeting, as submitted. Motion carried unanimously.

# 3. Rolling Calendar

M/S (Edmunds/Atchley): To set April 18-21, 2012 as the date and the University of Idaho as the location for the April 2012 regularly scheduled Board meeting. Motion carried unanimously.

## **BUSINESS AFFAIRS AND HUMAN RESOURCES**

### Section II - Finance

Board member Terrell introduced this item. He explained the Board would hear presentations from all the institutions prior to considering their recommendations and taking action.

# Eastern Idaho Technical College (EITC)

Burton Waite, President of EITC introduced the new Vice President of Finance and Administration, Jim Stratton. President Waite referred the Board to the agenda materials related to EITC for their information. He noted that EITC is requesting a tuition/fee increase of 5% for full-time students and 4.7% for part-time students.

Mr. Waite indicated that the technology aspect of the operation of the institution is where the majority of the emphasis of the fee increase is directed. He explained that EITC is doing a number of things to control costs. It is working to be efficient with the plant facilities and identifying in each building the needs and the priorities for improvements and costs savings. Mr. Waite noted that EITC went through a restructure at the institution and downsized administration. The College is directing more resources towards instruction.

Mr. Waite explained that EITC is a technical college; it works with numerous advisory committees. Its placement rate is 90%. The College does a good job meeting the needs of the region by balancing employment needs, programs, and student placement. EITC is always concerned about fee increases and the impact on students. However, the reductions for state dollars as well as federal Perkins dollars will have significant impact on all the technical colleges in Idaho. EITC is concerned about how to manage those reductions. In order to continue and maintain their operation, EITC feels the fee increase it is recommending will allow the College to do that and also keep the cost of education at EITC reasonable.

Board member Terrell asked for clarification about the non-resident tuition. Mr. Waite explained that EITC has very few non-residents coming to their institution; students coming in from out-of-state pay the out-of-state rate. Mr. Waite explained that the non-resident tuition amount is paid in addition to paying the regular semester fee.

Board member Soltman asked about the scholarship pool available to entering freshmen. Mr. Waite noted that for the coming year it will be about \$300,000, which is down significantly from last year. He pointed out that last year scholarship funds included money from the Albertson Foundation.

Board member Atchley asked about the enrollment cap. Mr. Waite indicated it varies by program and sometimes it varies by year. Each program has an advisory committee which advises EITC about the current and changing job market. Enrollments are adjusted as much as possible to meet the job market needs.

Board President Westerberg how program caps will effect total enrollments in the coming year. Mr. Waite indicated the College expects the enrollments to be about the same as the previous two years. Mr. Westerberg asked if the budget increase or fee increase includes salary increases. Mr. Waite emphasized it does not pointing out that there haven't been salary increases or bonuses for the last two years.

Mr. Terrell asked what happens to EITC if it goes past the flat rate in terms of enrollment. Mr. Waite indicated that the allocations will be the same as noted in the agenda materials. The PTE fees are used for instruction, for the students.

Mr. Waite concluded by asking the Board to support its recommendation to increase the fees at EITC.

## Lewis-Clark State College (LCSC)

Dr. Tony Fernandez presented the request for LCSC. He introduced Trudy Alva, Chet Herbst, and Janelle McCoy to provide additional input. Dr. Fernandez indicated that LCSC is seeking a 7% fee increase.

Chet Herbst explained the rationale for LCSC's request. The College is asking for a 7% increase. The strategy is to recover a portion of the operating budget rather than asking for the full amount. This will help to sustain access for students with the most economic challenges. Mr. Herbst noted that LCSC has continued to make cuts in staff and services throughout the year to avoid significant new program cuts or stretch-outs.

Mr. Herbst pointed out that LCSC's objective is to maintain a current operational focus. He explained that because it is a small campus LCSC is able to provide a one-on-one attention to its students. He noted it has close to a 100% placement rate and generates both academic and PTE graduates.

To keep the operational tempo reasonably steady LCSC will have to dip into the already limited reserves to keep the lights on. The College is lean on staffing, lean on salaries, and lean on reserves. Mr. Herbst noted that LSCS and has a higher dependence on appropriated dollars; it also has the lowest tuition rate of the four-year institutions. As a result, in times of financial hardship LCSC is more adversely affected than the other four-year institutions.

Mr. Herbst explained that funds are needed to meet the unfunded MCO requests: inflation, replacement capital, enrollment workload adjustment, and base reduction. To keep even, LCSC would need a fee increase of 18.9% to meet unfunded MCO request. What LCSC is actually asking for is 7%. One reason for keeping it at 7% is the concern about student access and affordability for those for who any increase is an economic hardship.

The challenge of the LCSC staff is to avert, avoid, delay or put off the impact of the lack of funds, including the maintenance of operations, facilities, etc. The institution is attempting to be fair about spreading out the impact so there is minimal damage and there is a balance in the pain. The goal is not to keep even or to expand, but to avoid significant harm to programs.

Mr. Herbst noted that LCSC continues to seek out grants, gifts, and other means to bring in funds. In terms of the impact of the 7% fee increase, LCSC assumes it will have a 0% increase in enrollment, no increase to student activity fees, estimated increased revenue of \$960K, and approximately 1% (about \$130,000) of the increase going to fund scholarships.

In terms of the impact on students, LCSC will still have the lowest tuition of the four four-year institutions in the state. Its fees will remain below the averages for Idaho, the WICHE region, and the peer institutions around the country. Other costs at LCSC are being controlled as well, including housing, meal plans, textbooks, student health insurance, and parking.

Dr. Fernandez noted that LCSC is ranked as the most affordable four-year college/university in Idaho in the Lumina Report and it provides quality affordable education opportunities to the citizens of Idaho. If the Board does not grant this request, even drastic cuts will need to take place by LCSC which will be extremely detrimental to the institution and its students.

Board member Terrell asked about the athletic fees. Mr. Herbst indicated that no increase at all will take place in athletics or in any of the student activity fees. The enrollment growth helps take care of athletics.

Mr. Terrell raised a question about scholarships and LCSC's strategy. Dr. Fernandez indicated that a portion of the strategy has to be fee increases. If the trend continues the resources are going to have to come from fee increases as well as seeking funds from other sources such as grants, donations, gifts, and foundation funds. He pointed out that LCSC also understands it may need to continue to make cuts. He noted that should the economy improve, the College intends to try to roll back the fees and tuition.

Mr. Terrell asked about the flat enrollment estimate. Dr. Fernandez indicated that LCSC has been modest over the years in making the assumptions of what the enrollment increases would be. It is not justifiable to make large assumptions because past performance is no guarantee of future performance; He pointed out that LCSC is trying to be realistic.

Board President Westerberg referred to a chart provided in the Board materials outlining the trends of historical funding by the Legislature. He noted that there were a number of points to consider in terms of the end funding. He indicated he was doing a risk analysis in his mind and Mr. Herbst agreed that LCSC has also considered a number of the same things and the same risk factors. Mr. Herbst emphasized that LCSC does not want to go to the students to fill all the gaps. Mr. Westerberg asked if the enrollment projection by LCSC is realistic. Dr. Fernandez indicated it is.

Mr. Westerberg asked about needs-based scholarships. Dr. Fernandez explained about the make-up of the student body and how all the revenues are used. Janelle McCoy, Student Body President, pointed out that the students would like to see more merit based scholarships available because many LCSC students tend to fall into gaps in terms of scholarships based on need.

Ms. McCoy indicated that the students at LCSC understand that due to the lack of funding support from the government, it falls to the students to provide additional support. The students passed a resolution related to that understanding.

Mr. Westerberg asked about summer and part-time tuition increases and how to increase summer session participation. Dr. Fernandez indicated the College is looking at ways to accomplish that.

State Superintendent Luna asked about online learning and what LCSC is doing to stretch their education dollars. Dr. Fernandez explained that LCSC has secured funds over the past few years to increase the band width that comes to the College. Funds have also been secured in several districts for high schools to hook up to the network in the state. The College has also worked with UI to access equipment that will allow for live delivery of video courses. And as a priority LCSC has increased its online participation to the point of evaluating how to manage online coursework with the face-to-face component. The PACE program is one of their most successful programs.

Mr. Luna asked about requiring students to take online or blended courses each semester to address financial issues. Dr. Fernandez indicated that LSCS has not done that because it is not necessary. Students are flocking to take online courses. Mr. Luna urged LCSC to make it a requirement. Dr. Fernandez noted that there are some classes that are only available online. Dr. Fernandez pointed out that because that is already happening, there would not be any additional cost savings at this time.

## University of Idaho (UI)

Dr. Duane Nellis introduced Samantha Perez newly elected Student Body President, Steven Parrott outgoing Student Body President, along with Keith Ickes and Lloyd Mues.

Dr. Nellis noted that UI is trying to preserve things at the University. He explained that over the past decade there has been a fundamental change in the funding paradigm in Idaho, and nationally as well. As the amount of state funds has decreased, the amount of tuition/fee funding has increased. He noted that endowment funding has also decreased. Dr. Nellis noted that over the past decade, the purchasing power of students is down.

Dr. Nellis indicated that UI has addressed the funding situation by eliminating positions, closing programs, limiting hiring, reorganizing colleges, eliminating classes, and invested in energy savings to reduce future costs. The transformational changes include promoting entrepreneurial thinking to cut costs and raise revenues; increasing class and program efficiencies; expanding online and dual courses; refining interactive learning opportunities; revamping the financial aid program; restructuring research and economic development; overhauling recruiting and enrollment processes; and increasing community involvement.

Ms. Perez explained that one of the things the students will work on this year is evaluating the student activity fees to see if those activities actually benefit the students. Fees going to activities that are not beneficial will be redirected.

Dr. Nellis discussed the fiscal challenges UI is facing including reduction of state funding, increases in costs, the need to use reserves and bridge funds, and other unfunded state obligations. Dr. Nellis referred the Board to the current tuition and fee package.

Stephen Parrott discussed the proposed fee increase for this year. An 8.4% fee increase is proposed for resident students; the non-resident fee increase is 8%. The graduate fee proposed fee increase is 15%. The breakout of the student activity fee is \$5.26 per year per student. It is part of the tuition and fee package. The technology fee and the facility fees are not increased. Mr. Parrott explained that the proposal was taken to the open forum for students

to allow them the opportunity to respond. He noted that there has been a very positive response; they would rather see an increase than to see things get cut.

Dr. Nellis indicated that if the fee increases are approved, UI's FY 12 tuition and fee rates still fall below the peer institutions fee and tuition rates. Dr. Nellis discussed how the fee increase will help UI meet the challenges. The internal budget cuts for FY 2012 based on the proposed fee increase will be \$1.8 million. UI is building for the future. The University continues to be highly ranked for what it offers: the return students have for their investment; the quality of the education opportunities it provides; and its reputation nationally. UI wants to preserve what it has. This proposal has been thought through very carefully.

Steve Parrott thanked the Board for allowing them to attend the meeting. He pointed out that UI is very unique and has a great partnership between its students and administration. Administration has been open to listening to the students and their concerns. Ms. Perez mentioned the student approval for this proposal has been overwhelming. There were no major objections because the students understand that administration has been transparent, willing to work with the students, and to listen to their concerns.

Board member Terrell raised a point about the enrollment assumption. Dr. Nellis indicated that the funds that come in will be used as outlined in the proposal even if the enrollments are higher than estimated. Mr. Nellis added that UI is using a different approach to recruit new students.

Mr. Terrell asked for clarification on the Kibbie Center operations. Mr. Parrott pointed out the Kibbie Dome is the ASBU Kibbie Dome and used for many other events, classes, and activities in addition to athletics. Mr. Terrell asked why the Spirit Squad is funded with student activity fees and Mr. Parrott explained that the Spirit Squad helps with recruiting, and performs at other student activities beyond sporting events. Ms. Perez explained that UI does not fund the Spirit Squad fund so the students voted to fund them.

Mr. Terrell asked about Ul's strategy if the economic situation continues. Dr. Nellis noted that the Board needs to look at the transformational activities and programs that UI has initiated because they could generate revenue and offset costs. UI hopes to increase the out-of-state enrollments as well to increase revenue through gifts, grants, and foundation support. Dr. Nellis noted UI will continue to do business differently. He expects there will be increasing costs such as deferred maintenance, utilities, technology and software etc. And, while UI is working with contractors and vendors to keep those costs under control, the needs won't go away. Also, there have not been salary raises for staff in nearly five years and there are serious consequences related to that as the University continues to lose staff to other states.

Board member Edmunds asked about the multiplier used for non-residents and Mr. Ickes noted that the basic fee package is charged to every student; then the non-resident fee package is added on top of that.

Mr. Edmunds asked about the direction all of the institutions are going noting there seems to be a lot of duplication. He suggested that there should be serious talk about whether growth is the right thing. In terms of the overall cost of education in the state, if there was a different approach with more focus on programs and less focus on growth, there could be significant costs savings.

Ms. Atchley asked about the online courses offered at UI and whether an online course offered by one institution can be transferred to another institution in the state. Dr. Nellis noted that there is complete transparency, and transferability isn't an issue. However, there are some for-profit institutions where it is an issue. In terms of costs savings, Dr. Nellis noted that there is such a range of online courses and such a variety in the types and requirements, online learning does not always guarantee that there will be a cost savings. It varies significantly depending on the subject matter, the design of the course, the enrollment in the course, the teaching staff, the assessment, etc. Provost Baker noted that there is confusion when the term online is used; it is good for some courses, and not good for others. Online learning is not watching a video. A lot of active teaching is required and so there is cost factor there.

Board President Westerberg expressed his appreciation in having the students involved in the decisions and the Board presentation. He asked about the use of student tuition to fill the gaps. Dr. Nellis explained that UI used \$4.2 million of its reserves this past year to fill in the gaps. It hopes to make up some of the loss of those reserves funds so they won't drop too much lower.

Mr. Westerberg asked about ways to increase summer enrollments and summer rates. Provost Baker indicated that UI doesn't believe price is the lever because it is already pretty low; so it is looking at place, price, and promotion. It is also looking at distance education as well in terms of summer courses.

Board member Terrell raised a point about the institutions going to self-funding of athletics. Steve Parrott noted that there would be immediate concerns for the students if that were the case. Currently, students benefit significantly from athletics. If the funds go away, students would have to begin to bear more of the cost in order to attend events. Also, the additional uses that students are able to take advantage of within the athletic department are important.

Mr. Edmunds returned to the idea of revenue streams and costs streams; on the student side there are costs streams and grant/financial aid streams. Some of those grant/financial streams are drying up or diminishing significantly for students. The bottom line is how do students afford to go to school? The debt load when students come out of school is a serious issue. Mr. Ickes indicated that UI will have a research project underway to study this issue.

Mr. Luna asked if UI has looked at BYU-Idaho's three semester system. Students are assigned which two semesters of the three they can attend; there is no summer school option. Provost Baker indicated UI has looked at this; but traditionally their students go home and work in the summer. Dr. Baker indicated UI may not have the same flexibility as BYU-Idaho in telling students they can only take two semesters when there are three semesters available.

## **Boise State University (BSU)**

President Bob Kustra introduced Stacy Pearson, Vice President of Finance and Administration, Brandie Van Order, newly elected Student Body President, and Emily Walton, Secretary of ASBU external communications, Chris Rosenbaum, Director of Budget, Martin Schimpf, Interim Provost.

Dr. Kustra agreed that BSU, like the other institutions, are struggling with the new normal. He noted that the reduction in the appropriation is not the only problem; but also the lack of recognition on the part of the Legislature that significant numbers of students are coming to BSU and the Legislature refusing to provide funding for BSU to enroll them. He also noted that

BSU's strategic plan was written at a time when the economy was better; it needs to be updated to reflect the current situation and trend. Dr. Kustra pointed out that BSU can no longer expect to be a research institution in all areas; it can no longer think about offering graduate degrees or doctorates in all areas. The expenses these kinds of programs incur make it impossible to fund them. The technology needs in the Valley requires BSU to focus more on science and engineering because the technology demand is where the greatest need is now.

BSU knows its area of emphasis is changing. BSU is looking at teaching loads and class size; class size is growing all across the campus. BSU has over a 1000 online courses and that number will continue to grow. It is impossible to say whether BSU has saved money with online courses because of the up front investment and set-up costs. Dr. Kustra noted that if a graduate degree program is offered elsewhere in the region it may be that BSU does not have to continue to offering those courses or programs any more. He suggested that it will take a chancellor-like system on the part of the Board that willingly imposes upon the institutions some of the recommendations that have been suggested.

Dr. Kustra mentioned the tuition costs and the price. He suggested that higher education does not price its product realistically. The institutions must determine actual costs and what it takes to do something; and the Board must agree to help meet the costs. Currently, there are no differential costs between programs, and no difference in what a freshman/sophomore pays compared to a junior/senior. He suggested that perhaps there ought to be because the upper level courses are more expensive to deliver. Dr. Kustra shared that another way to look at solving the financial crisis is to decide which institutions will recruit and enroll the bulk of non-resident students and which ones should focus more on resident students.

Dr. Kustra noted that BSU is asking for a 5% increase across the board. He emphasized that it really is not fair to put more of a burden on the students. He shared that it is wrong-thinking on the part of the Legislature that higher education always has tuition and fees to fall back on. Higher education in Idaho is on the bottom of the pile in terms of the budget approval process undertaken by our state government. Dr. Kustra suggested that Idaho needs to go back to the basics. It needs to look at the funding mode and needs to look at the base-plus model.

Stacy Pearson discussed the particulars of what BSU is requesting. The part-time increase is 3%; the resident undergraduate proposal is 5%. The increase is needed to address the enrollment increases, to off-set the lack of funding from the state government, and the detrimental impact of the holdbacks over the year. BSU had a 40% increase in applications in new and transfer students. BSU plans to stay with its core principles and identify efficiencies, reorganize functions, reduce administrative effort, and continue to review the academic offerings and requirements including class size, curriculum, and course delivery model.

Ms. Pearson noted that even though BSU budgeted for a 2% enrollment growth in FY 2011, it actually had closer to a 5.6% enrollment growth; it may see a 3-4% enrollment growth this year. The revenue is targeted to mitigate the state budget reduction for FY 2012 and the total unfunded enrollment workload adjustment, and to partially fund the needs and services related to enrollment growth.

The alternative calendar is under review at BSU. Online learning will continue with students taking at least one online course. Alternative schedules such as evenings and weekends are even more popular to take advantage of the physical plant. The summer and inter-session

programs have seen increasing enrollments as well. BSU was listed by U.S. News ad World Reports as among the top colleges and universities for its innovated and promising efforts.

Brandie Van Order spoke about the process of the fee request and noted that the students were fully involved. The students actually proposed a larger increase, but Dr. Kustra determined to come in at a lower number. Ms. Van Order said students want to obtain a quality education and degree. They don't like to see the burden increase; but, they recognize the need to meet the costs.

Emily Walton noted that BSU needs to receive a more equitable distribution of the state funds that are available. Right now that is not the case. It has the largest number of students of all the other universities and colleges. Students value their education and so they are in agreement with the increase.

Board member Terrell asked for clarification on how the funds that came to BSU as a result of the unanticipated enrollment were used. Ms. Pearson explained that when BSU does its budgeting process, they do it by priority. It is based on an estimated enrollment and tuition growth. If the actual enrollment is higher than estimated, the funds are looked at in terms of the priorities on the lists. For the most part BSU waits to see what the actual annual amount will be. In this case, some of these one-time funds were moved into other areas, but not outside the educational needs. It did not go towards athletics.

Mr. Terrell asked how BSU feels about taking away state funding from athletics. Ms. Pearson noted that currently the budget that goes to athletics is a little more than 2%. It is used primarily to hire coaches. When the student fees are added into that, there is not a lot of opposition to that because the students do benefit from the athletic programs and events. She pointed out that the institutions are limited by Board policy as to what they can put towards athletics, and there are requirements that are mandated by the federal government that must be taken into consideration as well.

Ms. Pearson pointed out that the athletic programs, activities, and events benefit to the university, the students, and the community. They are an entity of the university. Ms. Pearson noted that the challenge is take a long-term view because athletics does brings returns to the institutions. Ms. Van Order noted that students would not agree with zero support for athletics. It is something the students enjoy; they benefit from it. It's part of their community and it would be disappointing to have it go away. She is confident that the students would be interested in looking at the costs involved and how or where there could be cuts.

Dr. Kustra indicated that he could live with a State Board decision to remove funding support from athletics even though it would place a greater burden on the institutions to find the funds elsewhere. However, the Board should be aware that such a move would hand over to the donors more control over athletics than they should. In removing the one mechanism that puts some safe-guards and oversight around to the programs, the Board would open up a can a worms. Dr. Kustra pointed out that you can see evidence of those very types of problems in other universities throughout the country where the donors exert influence, call the shots, and place the athletic directors in a position where they have to placate the donors to a huge degree.

Board member Soltman asked about the impact of ongoing costs and how are those costs addressed. Ms. Pearson noted that is always a concern and it is a long-term process in terms

of planning. BSU still needs the academic space and the campus master plan is in the process of being updated. Dr. Kustra explained that he has lobbied the Legislature for occupancy costs funding the last eight years. He understands that it really is the responsibility of the institution to run the buildings they build, unless they are state mandated buildings. He noted that BSU continues to build occupancy costs it into its budget.

Board member Atchley asked about the number of students taking full-time credit load and how that works into their thoughts about the cost of education. Ms. Pearson indicated it is a large portion. Also, there is an increase in the number of students taking credit hours. BSU will get those numbers to Ms. Atchley. Ms. Atchley asked how funding relates to the graduation rate. Ms. Pearson said enrollment workload adjustment is used to get the students into the door and into the classroom. New money helps BSU move further towards increasing the graduation rates.

Mr. Luna raised a question about state stimulus dollars. Ms. Pearson noted that BSU received 4.3 million one year and 1.3 million the next, but those were one-time funds to help get BSU through the reductions. Board member Soltman asked if BSU has been using its reserves. Ms. Pearson indicated that was the case, particularly this year. Board member Edmunds clarified that BSU is projecting to operate at a deficit and part of that will be from reserves. Ms. Pearson noted that BSU will probably draw about 2.8 million from reserves. It could do used its reserves for part of its funding for a few years; but the hope is not to do that too many more years.

Board member Westerberg agreed with Dr. Kustra about the point of funding education based on the actual costs. He also suggested that BSU may be one of the universities that could operate like BYU-Idaho and force students into the three semester system.

## Idaho State University (ISU)

Jim Fletcher, the Financial Vice President, and Barbara Adamcik, the Interim Provost of Idaho State University, presented the fee/tuition request for ISU. Dr. Vailas was unable to attend the Board meeting for personal reasons. Student body officers Cassy Yanke, current ASISU President, and Shawn Stokes, newly elected ASISU President, were also introduced. Mr. Fletcher explained the process that ISU used in both the ISU budget development and fee setting processes. He noted there will be a new budget consultation council with elected members as a tool to optimize budget decisions.

Cassy Yanke explained that ASISU understands the reasoning for the increases. She noted that an open forum was held at ISU and also at the Idaho Falls campus to gather input and recommendations. The general understanding of the students is that the increase is needed to maintain and grow the University. She thanked President Vailas and the ISU administration for their efforts to offset the tuition increase by providing opportunities for students related to career guidance and employment opportunities.

Shawn Stokes indicated that his goal is to make sure ASISU is transparent to the students. One way to accomplish this is through the representation they have on the various councils, particularly the budget council. He noted that students do have a say in the many different aspects of campus life and decision making.

Mr. Fletcher discussed the process for determining tuition and fee increases. There was agreement that as the institution decided to make budget cuts and reductions, there would be

reductions in the percentage increase of the fees and tuition recommendations. They call this process linkage. Mr. Fletcher noted that there are many factors that were taken into consideration, among them the aging infrastructure of the campus, the services that need to be provided, and reduction in state funds.

Improvements to the infrastructure, enhanced services, improvement to the emergency notification system, upgrades to the campus student equipment, online registration including online financial aid processes all took place in FY 2011. Also the transcript request system is now entirely online, as is the ability to run quarterly financial statements online. Enhancements to these services and others will continue to take place in FY 2012.

Mr. Fletcher noted that the changing financial picture and the new normal it terms of funding sources has required the University to continue looking at ways to meet the challenges with new approaches. They are proposing a 7% increase for resident full-time students; and, and increase of 6.2% increase in part-time credit hour fees. This posture is what is required to put ISU where it needs to be. ISU sees itself as still competitively priced against its peers.

ISU looks at what the net price is when all things are considered. The uncertainties related to decreases in federal financial aid is going to have a serious impact, but just what that will be is not known. One of the strategies ISU has taken to offset the reductions to financial aid is the Career Path Intern program for students.

Looking beyond this, the overall budget challenge to be address includes the legislative base budget reduction, loss of federal stimulus funds, and unfunded other needs. This need would be addressed with the 7% fee and tuition increase. ISU is also planning for over two million in budget reductions. One of the restructuring challenges that was undertaken had to do with the lack of a focused recruiting function. That has been addressed with the addition of a recruiting function with very active recruiters working all throughout Idaho as well as in a number of states and also internationally. It is hoped that this will produce enrollment increases.

Mr. Fletcher shared a number of transformation changes that are underway at ISU to change how decisions are made and operations are managed. Some of these include implementation of a new unified University Policies and Procedures Manual, continued strategic balance of staffing and enrollment, and increases in professional fees. FY 2012 budget priorities focus on balance and not putting the burden on the students. Budget reductions allowed for bringing that down. ISU will maintain and enhance student services, preserve the core faculty, and avoid layoffs and furloughs. ISU is not spending anything out of its reserves.

ISU is trying to address key points of stress on affordability. The Career Path Internship (CPI) program is one of those points. It enhances the educational experience that a student has. The CPI program is strongly supported by the faculty, staff, and students. The FY 2012 budget proposes a funding increase for the CPI program. It has already been noted that it will offset some of the significant cuts coming in financial aid.

Mr. Fletcher explained that all of this is taking place in the context of declining public support for public education. The institutions need to plan on how they will survive the transition. ISU's strategic plan will include a major strategic budget initiative to position ISU next year to see what actions can be taken next year outside of normal. The deans will consider how they will strategically position themselves for further reductions over the next 5 years. On the plus side, the institution wants the deans to also look at how they can fund significant unmet University

needs. There will also be continued focus on fund raising, goal setting, monitoring levels which will drive additional increases.

Board member Terrell asked about the headcount over the past few years where there have been decreases a number of times. Mr. Fletcher indicated that last year's decrease had to do with the state's reclassification. Mr. Terrell asked for clarification about student tuition and intercollegiate athletics. Mr. Fletcher noted that Mr. Terrell was looking at the yearly numbers and he was talking about the semester numbers.

Mr. Fletcher noted that if there is more money coming in than anticipated, it will go to education. If there are more applications, how can there be a flat rate estimated for headcount. Mr. Fletcher explained that there are three pools they are seeing in applications. The international applications are up significantly. The others are out-of-state, but domestic. The largest number is still in-state. When ISU tries to get to the enrollment number, there is always a fall-out between the number of applications and the numbers of enrollments.

Board member Edmunds asked about the updated 2011 enrollment numbers. Mr. Fletcher indicated that ISU's budget assumption was to hold it flat. He explained that the part-time enrollments are up and the non-resident enrollments are up. The flatness of the FTE is strictly full-time enrollment. The prediction is based on the fact that the mix has changed. Related to the applications on a weighted basis, ISU believes it will be up slightly.

Mr. Luna asked if ISU factored in the stimulus dollars when it showed the cuts. Mr. Fletcher indicated they had not. They received about the same amount as BSU.

Mr. Edmunds wondered about the trend of international applications. ISU is strong in its confidence because of last year. There is a tremendous increase in responses, inquiries, and the work of alumni nationally and internationally to recruit higher numbers.

Board President Westerberg asked about the use of reserves. Mr. Fletcher indicated that ISU's decision not to use reserves resolves around philosophical grounds and situational standings of the institution. ISU has been low on reserves in the past and it does not want to go back to that position. It proved detrimental in years past; it doesn't want to target the reserves as a source of funds; rather they want to increase the reserve funds. The plan to increase reserve funds will be made by the budget consultation committee.

Board member Atchley asked about the amounts spent on instruction versus administration over a ten-year period. She noted that ISU's administration numbers appear to have increased more than the instruction numbers. Mr. Fletcher suggested that may be due to a mistake in the way the funds were identified. He will check on that and let Ms. Atchley know.

Board member Terrell thanked the presenters. At this time Mr. Terrell asked for a short break to work on the motions prior to making them.

Student Tuition and Fee Rates (Academic Year 2011 – 2012)

### Overview

M/S (Terrell/Soltman): To waive Board policy III.T.3.c., with respect to the student activity fee for athletics, to allow the institutions to change the student fee for the athletic programs at a rate that is not more than the rate of change of the total student activity fees. Motion carried unanimously.

Idaho State University – Student Tuition and Fee Rates (Academic Year 2011 – 2012)

M/S (Terrell/Soltman): To approve the annual full-time resident student fee rates for FY 2012 for Idaho State University at an overall increase of 7%, to include tuition, facility, technology, and activity fees for a total dollar amount of \$5,796; and to approve the annual fulltime student fee rate for nonresident tuition of 7 % for a total dollar amount of \$11,236. Motion carried 6-1 (Edmunds voted Nay).

M/S (Terrell/Atchley): To approve all other fees for FY 2012 for Idaho State University as contained in the Idaho State University Fees motion sheet which will be made part of the written minutes. Motion carried unanimously.

Boise State University – Student Tuition and Fee Rates (Academic Year 2011 – 2012)

M/S (Terrell/Edmunds): To approve the annual full-time resident student fee rates for FY 2012 for Boise State University at an overall increase of 5%, to include tuition, facility, technology, and activity fees for a total dollar amount of \$5,566; and to approve the annual fulltime student fee rate for nonresident tuition of 10% for a total dollar amount of \$10,400. Motion carried unanimously.

M/S (Terrell/Atchley): To approve all other fees for FY 2012 for Boise State University as contained in the Boise State University Fees motion sheet which will be made part of the written minutes. Motion carried unanimously.

Lewis-Clark State College – Student Tuition and Fee Rates (Academic Year 2011 – 2012)

M/S (Terrell/Soltman): To approve the annual full-time resident student fee rates for FY 2012 for Lewis- Clark State College at an overall increase of 7%, to include tuition, facility, technology, and activity fees for a total dollar amount of \$5,348; and to approve the annual full-time student fee rate for nonresident tuition of 7% for a total dollar amount of \$9,532. Motion carried 6-1 (Edmunds voted Nay).

M/S (Terrell/Soltman): To approve all other fees for FY 2012 for Lewis-Clark State College as contained in the Lewis-Clark State College Fees motion sheet which will be made part of the written minutes. Motion carried unanimously.

<u>Eastern Idaho Technical College – Student Tuition and Fee Rates (Academic Year 2011 – 2012)</u>

M/S (Terrell/Edmunds): To approve the annual full-time resident student fee rates for FY 2012 for Eastern Idaho Technical College at an overall increase of 5%, to include professional-technical education, technology, and activity fees for a total dollar amount of \$1,932; and to approve the annual full-time student fee rate for nonresident tuition of 5% for a total dollar amount of \$5,146. Motion carried unanimously.

M/S (Terrell/Atchley): To approve all other fees for FY 2012 for Eastern Idaho Technical College as contained in the Eastern Idaho Technical College Fees motion sheet which will be made part of the written minutes. Motion carried unanimously.

<u>University of Idaho – Student Tuition and Fee Rates (Academic Year 2011 – 2012)</u>

M/S (Terrell/Soltman): To approve the annual full-time resident student fee rates for FY 2012 for University of Idaho at an overall increase of 8.4%, to include tuition, facility, technology, and activity fees for a total dollar amount of \$5,856; and to approve the annual full-time student fee rate for nonresident tuition of 8% for a total dollar amount of \$12,520. Motion carried 6 – 1 (Edmunds voted Nay).

M/S (Terrell/Soltman): To approve all other fees for FY 2012 for University of Idaho as contained in the University of Idaho Fees motion sheet which will be made part of the written minutes. Motion carried unanimously.

Board President Westerberg thanked the institutions for their presentation. Bill Goesling asked that the Board thank the student leaders for their participation and involvement by drafting a letter to them to that effect. They were a key component in the decisions today. Board President Westerberg agreed and directed the Board staff to do so.

### **CONSENT AGENDA**

M/S (Edmunds/Luna): To approve the Consent Agenda as posted. Motion carried unanimously.

1. Boise State University – New Positions and Changes to Positions

By unanimous consent, the Board agreed to approve the request by Boise State University for sixteen (16) new positions (16.0 FTE) and increase in term two (2) positions (2.0 FTE), supported by appropriated and local funds.

2. Idaho State University – New Positions

By unanimous consent, the Board approved the request by Idaho State University for two (2) new positions (2.0 FTE), supported by state and grant funding.

## 3. University of Idaho – New Positions and Changes to Positions

By unanimous consent, the Board approved the request by the University of Idaho to create one (1) new position (1.0 FTE) and reactivate two (2) positions (2.0 FTE), supported by appropriated and non-appropriated funds.

4. Alcohol Permits Issued by University Presidents

By unanimous consent, the Board accepted the report as submitted.

### DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION

1. Superintendent's Update – moved to end of this agenda

## 2. Correction to School District Boundaries

Mr. Luna introduced this item. He noted that the Idaho Tax Commission had reviewed boundaries over the last year and found errors in the legal description on a number of them. This action item serves to approve the necessary corrections in the legal description. Board member Terrell asked if the districts are aware of the boundary corrections. Mr. Luna explained this is a correction in the paperwork and will not be a surprise to any of them. It is a correction to verbiage so that it matches the facts. Board member Terrell said he will vote with the stipulation that nobody is displaced.

Board President Westerberg indicated his understanding is to make sure that the written legal description conforms to the description on the ground.

M/S (Luna/Soltman): To approve the corrected boundary legal description for the districts as follows: the Bruneau-Grand View Joint School District, the Buhl Joint School District, the Castleford Joint School District, the Hagerman Joint School District, the Horseshoe Bend School District, the McCall-Donnelly Joint School District, the Moscow School District, the Mountain View School District, the Mullan School District, the **Nezperce Joint School District, the Oneida County School District, the Orofino Joint** School District, the Teton County School District, and the Wallace School District. Motion carried unanimously.

3. Alteration of School District Boundaries – Jefferson Joint School District #251/Madison School District #321

M/S (Luna/Goesling): To accept the findings and conclusions in the recommended order issued by the hearing officer and to approve the excision and annexation of property from the Jefferson Joint School District to the Madison School District. Motion carried 6-1 (Ms. Atchley voted Nay).

Mr. Luna presented this item. He noted it was brought to the Board previously. It went to the voters, but was not approved at that time. It is coming back to the Board again for consideration. Mr. Luna explained that the hearing officer made the recommendation that there is justification to approve the request for annexation of property from the Jefferson Joint School

District to the Madison School District. If the Board approves this motion, it will go back before the voters to decide.

Board member Atchley noted this situation was being returned to the Board after a very short turn-around time. She suggested that the Board should have stricter rules on how soon such items can be returned to the Board.

### 4. Appointments to Professional Standards Commission

M/S (Luna/Soltman): To approve Nick Smith as a member of the Professional Standards Commission for a term of three years, effective July 1, 2011 through June 30, 2014, representing the Idaho Department of Education. Motion carried unanimously.

M/S (Luna/Atchley): To approve Dan Sakota as a member of the Professional Standards Commission for a term of three years, effective July 1, 2011 through June 30, 2014, representing secondary classroom teachers. Motion carried unanimously.

<u>5. George Fox University Boise Center – Proposed MAT Plus Online Teaching Endorsement Program</u>

M/S (Luna/ Edmunds): To accept the Professional Standards Commission recommendation to conditionally approve the MAT Plus Online Teaching Endorsement program offered through the George Fox University Boise Center. Motion carried 5-2 (Mr. Mr. Terrell and Goesling voted Nay).

Board member Edmunds noted that George Fox University falls under higher education and expressed concern as to how these requests are processed. It is his understanding that issues related to higher education usually go before CAAP before coming to the Board. Board member Edmunds invited Dr. Mantle-Bromley, Dean of College of Education at UI and Provost Baker of UI to speak to this.

Dr. Baker indicated his concern isn't with the proposal, but rather the communication gap. Normally, CAAP is made aware of higher education items, but that wasn't so in this case. Dr. Mantle-Bromley explained that the standard practice for teaching endorsements/programs is to have them go to the Professional Standards Commission (PSC) to make sure the endorsements/program meets the standards. She explained that three university deans sit on the Commission; two public and one private. They are responsible to make sure the information gets back to the institutions and to CAAP. Dr. Mantle-Bromley noted that the loop needs to be formalized to make sure it happens. She noted that George Fox has been forthcoming in addressing this gap. Board member Edmunds agreed that the Professional Standards Commission did do their job. The question is how to do a better job to make sure all the provosts are informed as well.

Board member Atchley asked why this came through the Department of Education. Mr. Luna noted that the PSC is staffed by, and part of, the Department of Education. All of these policies and programs come through the PSC for their consideration and recommendation. He noted that almost anything that deals with teacher certification and endorsement goes through the Department of Education.

Mr. Luna clarified that higher education has three or four seats on the PSC. The expectation is that the members of the PSC are communicating the information back to their representative groups. He suggested that maybe there needs to be a conversation at the PSC level about making sure that happens. Board member Edmunds noted that the reason he brought it up is because he saw an information gap and thought there needed to be a way to address that gap. He is not opposed to this item.

Board member Goesling suggested that this motion be defeated in order to allow the university presidents take the lead on this.

### 1. Superintendent's Report

Mr. Luna reported to the Board on Students Come First. He provided an overview of the specifics on what became law and what will be driving the K-12 education system in Idaho. He reminded the Board members that Idaho has cut or shifted over \$200 million of the public K-12 schools budget over the past two years. Not only was education considerably cut; it tapped into over \$200 million in one-time money to help meet the need and minimize cuts to the current system.

Mr. Luna noted it is important to put this into perspective because it has been suggested by some that if the new laws had not been put into place and everything stayed the same, everything would be fine. Mr. Luna indicated that something had to be done and there were three options to consider: continue to cut the current system; raise taxes to fund the current system; or change the system. It was decided the best option was to change the current system.

Regarding student achievement, specific areas have seen success through efforts such as the Idaho Reading Initiative, the Idaho Math Initiative, and the ISAT Remediation program. The Department of Education recognizes there is still a long way to go. The goal of Students Come First is to educate more students, at a higher level, with limited resources. The three pillars of Students Come First are: 21<sup>st</sup> Century classrooms; great teachers and leaders; and transparent accountability.

Board President Westerberg reminded the Board that the legislation passed this session allows the Department of Education to put together a task force to study the implementation of online courses. Mr. Luna indicated the task force will have 27 members. The task force will craft an implementation plan for the one-to-one technology. Mr. Luna noted that the Board of Education will have the responsibility to decide what the online credit requirement will be.

In discussing how the Board should do that Mr. Luna pointed out that the Board could recommend a number, but it needs to keep in mind that there is a standard to measure against: to have an effective and efficient education system. He suggested that working backwards from that point to decide how online courses help meet that goal is one approach the Board could consider taking.

Mr. Edmunds suggested that this is a big piece of education reform which will require substantial work. The concern is that rules are required to be promulgated so the Board needs to have something ready by August. Mr. Luna pointed out that if the Board focuses on what the law requires it is manageable. He suggested focusing on the evidence that is already there.

Mr. Westerberg noted that his concern is about dividing the issue and duplicating effort. He wondered if it would make more sense to keep the effort with the task force and have it make a recommendation. Mr. Luna explained that the Board's responsibility is to set graduation requirements. Mr. Luna also pointed out that because he is also the chair of the task force, it could be perceived as being a done-deal. So it is important to keep the two issues separate and not turn it over to the task force.

Mr. Westerberg asked how the Board wants to proceed with this. Ms. Atchley noted that the Board has to approach this in a practical manner. If it sets a minimum requirement that does not preclude students from taking more online courses, the limit can be at the lower end to start, with the understanding that it can be increased later on if necessary.

Board member Terrell said he views this as the Board's responsibility to do a small job, agreeing it might be perceived as bigger than it really is. He suggested that SDE staff need to meet with Board staff to clarify what the task is so that they can bring it to the Board with more clarity. Then, the Board can take the next steps.

Board member Goesling agreed with Mr. Edmunds that the Board needs to take an integrated systems approach. He suggested that the Board should consider what this does to the K-12 through higher education system. He encouraged the Board to look at the long-term goals of what it wants to achieve. He suggested that the key is to develop the standard and work backwards from there.

Ms. Atchley noted that a lot of the work has already been done through the legislation and what the Department of Education has already done; it is encased in law. She questioned whether the Board needed to revisit the work of other experts who have already studied the issues, researched the facts, and concluded that online learning is effective. She agreed with the analogy that education is a system; but it seems that a lot of that has been determined and put into law already by the Department of Education.

Mr. Goesling asked if online courses are designed to develop a citizen, a student with technology capabilities, or a student that is able to move on to further studies or a career. Mr. Luna read from the legislation to help clarify the points being discussed. He noted that the local level will require what courses will be taken; and a number of decisions at the local level will be factored into that. He explained that the Board just needs to set the number; the task force determines the plan for implementation.

Mr. Soltman pointed out that Provost Baker had previously discussed the Center for Online Education and the University of Idaho. He suggested his input would be helpful. Dr. Baker indicated all the universities would be glad to provide input in any way that is helpful.

Board President Westerberg returned to Mr. Terrell's suggestion that the Board direct the Board staff to put a process in place for the Board as the starting place. Mr. Westerberg requested the Board staff to follow up on that directive. He also noted that there will be a special Board meeting to discuss the proposal.

Mr. Luna provided the Board with handouts with additional information related to this item.

### **ELECTION OF OFFICERS FOR THE STATE BOARD OF EDUCATION**

M/S (Terrell/Atchley): To appoint Richard Westerberg as President of the Board of Education for the coming term. Motion carried 6-0 (Mr. Westerberg did not vote).

M/S (Soltman/Atchley): To appoint Ken Edmunds as the Vice President of the Board for the coming term. Motion carried 6-0 (Mr. Edmunds did not vote).

M/S (Terrell/Westerberg): To appoint Don Soltman as the Secretary for the Board for the coming term. Motion carried 6-0 (Mr. Soltman did not vote).

### **EXECUTIVE SESSION**

M/S (Edmunds/Goesling): To go into Executive Session at 5:25 p.m. to consider:

- Tab 1. As Trustees for Boise State University, pursuant to Idaho Code 67-2345(1)(d), to consider documents that are exempt from disclosure as provided in chapter 3, Title 9, Idaho Code.
- Tab 2. As Trustees for Idaho State University, pursuant to Idaho Code 67-2345(1)(c) for deliberations to acquire an interest in real property which is not owned by a public agency.

A roll call vote was taken; motion carried unanimously.

During Executive Session the Board considered the following: as Trustees for Boise State University, documents that are exempt from disclosure as provided in chapter 3, Title 9, Idaho Code; and, as Trustees for Idaho State University, acquiring an interest in real property which is not owned by a public agency.

M/S (Terrell/Soltman): To go out of Executive Session at 6:00 p.m. and adjourn for the evening. Motion carried unanimously.

## Thursday, April 21, 2011

The Board reconvened on April 21, 2011. Board President called the meeting to order at 8:30 a.m. He took time to make comments related to activities, accomplishments, and achievements in the educational community over the past several months including programming awards nominations for Idaho Public Television. Mr. Westerberg then recognized former Board member, Paul Agidius whose term recently ended. He noted that Mr. Agidius served on the Board for ten years and was part of many important decisions, initiatives, and efforts during that time. Mr. Westerberg thanked Mr. Agidius for his commitment, his leadership, his friendship, and his wise counsel throughout the years. Mr. Agidius thanked the audience and the Board members. He noted that his time with the Board was memorable, and he appreciated the opportunity to serve during his tenure with the Board.

By unanimous consent, the Board agreed to include discussion of the process related to online learning at the end of the PPGAC agenda.

## PLANNING, POLICY, AND GOVERNMENTAL AFFAIRS

## 1. University of Idaho Annual Report

Dr. Duane Nellis reported on the progress of the University of Idaho over the past year. He welcomed the Board to Moscow. Dr. Nellis discussed the mission of UI as a land grant research university. The priority is to ensure student success through quality education. UI has made great strides to achieve this through transformational teaching and learning, preparation, outreach and engagement, and purposeful growth. The new strategic plan for 2011 through 2015 includes a formal strategic planning committee which will continually review the plan and progress.

Dr. Nellis noted achievements including increasing graduate enrollment, extending recruitment initiatives, and an emphasis on programs related to community and culture. They've adopted an enrollment and recruitment plan that extends beyond the Moscow campus. Over the past two years UI has seen the largest freshmen enrollments; one third of them are the first in their families to attend college. They have 81 national merit scholars. As far as retention rates, 81% of freshmen are returning.

UI has many physical locations statewide and it continues to build for tomorrow. The facilities, the research enterprise, and the campus improvements have been addressed in spite of the financial constraints. UI is in the midst of a capital campaign; it will go public with it in 2012. The campaign focuses on students, faculty, programs, and facilities.

Dr. Nellis shared about the Polya Math Learning Center which gives students structure and an appropriate delivery model to maximize success. It is a national model. Dr. Nellis discussed the UI research enterprise. He noted that the total amount of awards received in FY 2011 have benefited the University and its students during difficult economic times. UI has transformative programs related to economic development underway including the University Economic Development Council and the Laboratory for Applied Science Research. Idaho businesses have sponsored a number of startup efforts as well.

UI is a leader in partnering with other businesses and institutions. The Center for Advanced Energy Studies in Idaho Falls (CAES) is one example and INBRE (the Idea Network) is another. UI has educational partnerships with WSU, BSU, and BYU-Idaho. Outreach and engagement are part of the mission of UI as a land grant university. Extension programs have earned national recognition. Budget line items that support key programs were mentioned.

Board member Soltman thanked Dr. Nellis for his report.

### 2. Presidents' Council Report

Burton Waite, President of EITC, presented the Presidents' Council report on behalf of the institutions. He referred to the written report in the Board agenda materials. He briefly highlighted results of the April meeting noting that Lt. Governor Brad Little met with the Presidents. In addition, there was a report on the legislative items that passed this session that will affect higher education. Mr. Waite thanked the Board for its support during the legislative session.

Dr. Kustra asked for time to discuss a point raised at the previous day's meeting which related to an online teacher endorsement program being offered at George Fox University. He noted that BSU does offer an online program as well. Board member Terrell noted that he had voted against the item related to that topic yesterday. He suggested that the agenda item should come back to the Board.

Mr. Luna explained that SDE approves multiple programs that are offered elsewhere. Those items routinely come before the Board. The question yesterday had to do with the process of the PSC informing the institutions. Approving the online program at George Fox doesn't preclude the other institutions from offering the same types of programs. Board member Goesling noted his concern from yesterday's meeting had to do with the cost. He suggested the Board go back and revisit that point. The Board should look at ways to offer the endorsement within our institutions. Dr. Fernandez pointed out that all the institutions have teacher education programs.

Mr. Luna explained that what the Board is discussing is a teacher getting an endorsement in a particular area. He reiterated that the PSC offers dozens of endorsements across the state and teachers have multiple ways of getting those endorsements. Mr. Luna noted that NNU, BYU-ldaho, and College of Idaho all offer teacher endorsement programs so the request from George Fox University isn't unique. He reminded the Board that George Fox University's program had to meet the criteria in order for it to be approved. The job of the PSC is to make sure the standards are met; this is done through a vigorous review. Mr. Luna pointed out that the standards are approved by the Board, and the PSC follows those standards.

Mr. Terrell asked permission to work with Mr. Luna on this issue. Board member Soltman agreed that would be a good idea. Board President Westerberg asked what the goal of the discussion would be. Mr. Luna noted that they could come back to the Board with some history and background on what endorsements are for, who offers them, and the role of the PSC in that. Perhaps the chair of the PSC could come and explain the process at a future Board meeting. Mr. Goesling volunteered to be part of that discussion.

At this time Ann Stephens of the Division of Professional-Technical Education took time to recognize Dr. Mike Rush. He was recently awarded the National Emeritus Award from the NASDCTEc. She noted that Dr. Rush served as the State Administrator of DPTE and also as the national president of the NASDCTEc. His contributions to education at the state and national level are well known and this national recognition is well deserved.

## 3. Idaho Professional-Technical Education Annual Report

Ann Stephens, State Administrator, presented the annual PTE report to the Board. She discussed the strategic plan goals and noted that PTE is defined as secondary, postsecondary and adult courses, programs, training and services for occupations and careers that require less than a four-year baccalaureate degree. Ms. Stephens noted that the PTE delivery system includes: and the technical college system. Ms. Stephens shared that 66% of high school PTE completers go onto college compared to 49.1% of Idaho's general high school population. In addition, 94% of high school completers and 90% of the technical college completers found jobs or continued their education in 2010.

Ms. Stephens referred to the Harvard Graduate School of Education's Pathways to Prosperity Project which reported that the current education system places far too much emphasis on a

single pathway to success, that being the academic track. But, according to a June 2010 New York Times article, sometimes a certificate in a particular trade, a two-year associate's degree, or just a few years of college may be as valuable to one's career and income as a traditional baccalaureate degree. In addition, the Pathways to Prosperity Project found that 27% of people with postsecondary licenses or certificates and credentials short of an associate's degree earn more than the average bachelor's degree recipient. Some examples of that include electricians, paralegals, police officers, and dental hygienists.

Ms. Stephens pointed out that PTE has portable, stackable credentials. PTE programs are offered in 112 school districts; 791 secondary programs were offered in 2010. PTE programs contribute to high school graduation by keeping students engaged in school because the curriculum is grounded in relevance. PTE prepares today's students for tomorrow's challenges. High school and technical college programs are linked through tech prep articulation agreements. PTE also delivers workforce training which includes training and retraining, and customized training. In FY 2010 over 50,000 students were enrolled in workforce training programs. Adult Basic Education and GED programs are also offered through the technical college system.

Ms. Stephens explained that 82% of the PTE appropriation is state funds; and over 62% of those funds are used to provide 100% of the direct cost of professional-technical education at the technical colleges. She noted that tuition paid by technical college students are retained by the main institution for maintenance and operations of PTE facilities. Additional revenues from tuition and tuition increases do not increase the PTE budget.

Related to the affect of the federal budget reduction, Ms. Stephens noted that PTE has not received the official allocation table as yet, but the expectation is that the cut will be significant. That, coupled with the state decreases over the last few years, will have a significant impact on all programs.

Mr. Luna asked about online education and the role of PTE at this time. Ms. Stephens noted that health professions are delivered online as well as a limited number of foundation classes online. She pointed out that with PTE programs, the capstone classes require critical work in lab settings and applied learning centers. She noted that there are a number of blended classes offered as well. Mr. Luna noted that he looks forward to discussions with PTE about how online learning can be facilitated. Ms. Stephens indicated she anticipates working closely with SDE to make sure both are moving in the same direction.

# <u>4. Idaho Division of Vocational Rehabilitation – Vocational Rehabilitation Counselor</u> Recognition

Board member Soltman presented this item. He read from the materials provided in the Board agenda commending Idaho's vocational rehabilitation counselors for their hard work. He expressed appreciation and gratitude for the important role that voc rehab counselors make in the lives of clients they serve. Mark Browning noted that Gary Hamilton, the area manager from the CDA office, was in the audience.

## 5. Idaho State University Faculty Governance Report

M/S (Soltman/Terrell): To approve a new provisional faculty senate to be elected under a proportional representation approach that would assign more members to the larger colleges. The provisional faculty senate will develop a constitution and bylaws for approval by the University president and the Board.

- Elections for the provisional faculty senate positions would begin immediately, under processes directed by the deans in each of the respective colleges
- The provisional faculty senate will sunset in one year or earlier if work on the new constitution and bylaws is complete, at which time an election of new members will be held in conformity with their approved by-laws.

# Motion carried unanimously.

Dr. Barbara Adamcik, the Acting Provost, briefly summarized the situation at ISU related to its governance system. She noted that at the February Board meeting, the SBOE approved the suspension of the ISU Faculty Senate. Since then, a thorough ongoing effort has been underway to develop and implement a plan for restoring the Faculty Senate as an important part of a reformed structure of University Shared Governance.

Dr. Adamcik indicated that Dr. Vailas has had numerous meetings with faculty and other key constituencies, discussing the reasons for the suspension and engaging in discussion of plans to move forward. Current plans are to continue these meetings and to focus more on smaller meetings with faculty chairs and their departments. Governance workshops have been held as well. On April 6 the last workshop discussed and voted unanimously that ISU needs a provisional senate in order to continue the work. The provisional senate will be in place and ready to begin its work as soon as the fall semester begins. The suggested process for serving on the provisional senate is that the faculty serving will be senior faculty that have more experience in higher education. The provisional senate will have a year to complete the new bylaws. Once the bylaws are completed, the permanent senate will be elected.

Board member Soltman noted that the items that Dr. Adamcik outlined do need Board approval. He made a motion to that end.

### 6. School District Trustee Zone Boundaries

M/S (Soltman/Goesling): To approve the requirements for school district trustee zone equalization proposals as submitted. Motion carried unanimously.

Board member Soltman presented this item.

## 7. Complete College America Grant Application

M/S (Soltman/Luna): To approve the request by Board staff to apply for the Complete College America Completion Innovation Challenge Grant. Motion carried unanimously.

Board member Soltman presented this item. Tracie Bent of the Board office discussed this item and explained that this gives Board staff permission to move forward with application for the grant. To meet the deadlines on this grant will require hiring a consultant to head up that effort. The proposal is due May 17<sup>th</sup>. Dr. Rush indicated that the amount required for a consultant would be about \$1.500.

# 8. Board Policy I.M. - First Reading

M/S (Soltman/ Atchley): To approve the first reading to Board policy section I.M., as submitted. Motion carried unanimously.

Board member Soltman presented this item. It was noted this puts the current practice into policy.

## 9. Board Policy I.J. - Second Reading

M/S (Soltman/Terrell): To approve the second reading of proposed amendments to Board Policy Section I.J. Use of Institutional Facilities and Services as submitted in attachment 1. Motion carried unanimously.

It was noted that there have been no changes to this item since the first reading.

At this time the Board took up the item related to online learning. A handout, drafted by Dr. Rush, was distributed. It outlined a possible process.

Board member Terrell asked for time to review at the information and give it some thought before making a decision. Mr. Luna reminded the Board it needs to have a rule before the Legislature in January, so the Board needs to take action sooner rather than later. He noted that the longer the Board waits the greater the possibility that there won't be something ready for the Legislature.

Board President Westerberg indicated he hoped there would be a shared view about how to proceed, even to the point of appointing a committee chair at this meeting. Mr. Luna said he wouldn't have a problem with appointing a committee chair; however, there needs to be time to think about the whether the key questions have been identified. Board member Terrell agreed with Mr. Luna.

Board member Edmunds asked for clarification and Mr. Westerberg indicated the work would be done by a separate ad hoc committee chaired by a Board member. It will have an end date because of the time sensitive nature of what needs to be done. Mr. Westerberg asked to have a special telephone conference meeting so the committee chair could share with the rest of the Board how the committee will proceed. Mr. Westerberg appointed Board member Soltman to chair that ad hoc committee and asked that there be a special meeting in two weeks.

Dr. Rush asked the Board members to consider the document that outlined a possible process as a brainstorming document, and it should be treated as such. Mr. Westerberg indicated that the document suggests that the institutions should be involved in the effort along with SDE.

10. Institution and Agency Strategic Plans – this item was moved to the end of the agenda

Information Item

### INSTRUCTION, RESEARCH, AND STUDENT AFFAIRS

1. Boise State University – Approval of Full Proposal – Masters of Science Degree in STEM Education

M/S (Edmunds/Soltman): To approve the request by Boise State University to offer a Master's of Science in STEM Education. Motion carried unanimously.

2. Idaho State University – Approval of Notice of Intent - Discontinuance of the Dental Lab Technical Program

M/S (Edmunds/Atchley): To approve the request by Idaho State University to discontinue the Dental Laboratory Technician Program. Motion carried unanimously.

3. University of Idaho – Approval of Full Proposal – Masters of Science Degree in Athletic Training

M/S (Edmunds/Goesling): To approve the request by the University of Idaho to create an entry-level Master's of Science in Athletic Training as set forth in the attached Full Academic Proposal. Motion carried unanimously.

<u>4. University of Idaho – Approval of Notice of Intent – Expansion of Current Professional</u> Practices – Doctor of Education

M/S (Edmunds/Atchley): To approve the request by the University of Idaho to expand the existing Ed.D. to offer a Professional Practices Doctor of Education as set forth in the attached Notice of Intent. Motion carried unanimously.

<u>5. University of Idaho – Approval of Notice of Intent – Restructure and Consolidation of the Department of Microbiology, Molecular Biology, and Biochemistry</u>

M/S (Edmunds/Soltman): To approve the request by the University of Idaho to reorganize and consolidate the Department of Microbiology, Molecular Biology, and Biochemistry (MMBB) as presented. Motion carried unanimously.

6. First Reading, Proposed Amendments to Board Policy III.I., Roles and Missions

M/S (Edmunds/Atchley): To approve the first reading of the proposed amendments to Board Policy III.I., Roles and Missions, as submitted. Motion carried 6-0 (Terrell abstained).

Board member Edmunds presented this item. He noted that there has been confusion as to what is written in the strategic plans and what the institutions have in their policies. Selena Grace of the Board office discussed this item.

Ms. Grace indicated that this is a critical policy primarily because of the accreditation requirements. The Board and the institutions need to work together on this. Ms. Grace noted there are five standards the institutions must meet according to the NW Commission. One of those standards is that institutions must articulate their purpose in the form of a mission statement. The NW Accreditation cycle is a seven-year cycle requiring a progress report every

two years. Ms. Grace asked that the Board require the institutions to bring a mission statement to the June Board meeting for the Board's review. In addition, she asked that the Board to request the institutions to bring a draft of their year-one report to the August meeting.

Board member Terrell asked for clarification on the motion noting that the motion doesn't include a mention of the institutions. It is an overview of the roles and mission for the Board. Mr. Edmunds explained that the Board sets the Board level role and mission for the institution. It is a starting point. It needs to line up with the seven-year renewal cycle of the NW Commission. He clarified that when the institutions submit their next strategic plan, the plans must line up with this policy.

Board President Westerberg noted that there is nothing directive in the policy that requires the institutions to redo their mission statements. It was clarified that particular language and instruction in not part of this policy. Mr. Edmunds pointed out that without being date specific, there is still a calendaring requirement related to the strategic plan. He noted that the next agenda item will bring up more specifics.

7. First Reading, Proposed Amendments to Board Policy III.Z., Delivery of Postsecondary Education – Planning and Coordination of Academic Programs and Courses

M/S (Edmunds/Atchley): To approve the first reading of the proposed amendments to Board Policy III.Z, Planning and Delivery of Postsecondary Programs, as submitted. Motion carried unanimously.

Ms. Grace discussed this item. The changes were driven by the request from the Board that clarification was necessary. The changes consist of moving from an eight year planning cycle to a five year planning cycle. The Board previously assigned each institution program responsibilities; those assignments were not previously in Board policy and now they are. The responsibilities of the community colleges are not assigned by the Board.

Board member Edmunds pointed out that there were conflicts between the Board's mission statements for each institution and the policy about their programmatic assignments. The goal is to clarify things, but it does not solve problem of mission creep in areas such as general research. The policy clarifies language and gives the Board a starting point as to who is doing what and why, and to provide rationale for why the institution is doing what it is doing. In addition, the changes don't touch the assignments; it only cleaned up language. He asked the Board to get the policy language cleaned up now and if there is a desire to do more than that, the Board should take that up at another time.

Board member Terrell expressed difficulties with the changes and asked for clarification. Mr. Edmunds reiterated that the policy makes statewide assignments and it makes regional assignments. He also explained there are wording changes that are subtle. Ms. Grace indicated that the purpose of this effort is to clean up the policy, to get rid of redundancy, to move things together so it flows together logically. However, the changes to the policy are minimal; the content is still there. It is primarily related to the changes in the timelines. The reference to the statewide policy is there how. It is just a reformatting of the policy.

To further clarify, Ms. Grace noted that the intent of the policy is such that if an institution which doesn't have a statewide responsibility for a particular program plans to go into another service area, it is required by policy to collaborate with the regional institution through the sharing of

facilities or the sharing of resources if building separate facilities. Dr. Rush added that the policy presumes that the institutions will work together; but it doesn't exclude the ability of the institution to rent or build a facility with Board approval, where the education and workforce needs of the community demand it.

Mr. Edmunds explained again that this is not a change in policy; it is a clean up the policy. He agreed that there will be further work to be done along the line of assignments and responsibilities. Board President suggested the language needs to be strengthened along the line of the five year planning plan. To have it in policy makes a lot more sense. Board member Goesling called for the question.

## 8. Dual Credit

M/S (Edmunds/Luna): For the Board to maintain the current statewide fee of \$65 per credit for dual credit classes for the 2011-2012 academic year and that a cost analysis be completed and brought back to the Board prior to the April 2012 Fee Setting meeting along with amendments to Board policy V.R. adding dual credit fees. Motion carried unanimously.

Board member introduced this item. He noted that there is not adequate information in this area and it needs to be developed. It was found that there is no cost-data to support the fee. Board staff has been asked to go back to the drawing board on this. Ms. Grace explained that the Board staff has worked with stakeholders and determined that an appropriate cost analysis needs to be done to determine what the correct fee should be. She noted that the institutions charge differently and that needs to weigh into the discussion. She and Matt Freeman of the Board office will be working with the financial VP's and the provosts on this together. Matt Freeman explained that dual credit can be delivered in different ways so the costs may differ based on that. That needs to be factored into the per credit charge. Mr. Edmunds noted that there are issues related to incentive for the student and benefit for the colleges. He reiterated that there is not adequate information; they've operated on a one-shoe-fits-all basis to date.

Mr. Luna suggested that it might be valuable that next year when the universities and colleges come to the Board for fee/tuition requests they include the dual credit fees in the requests as well. Board President Westerberg asked about the need for this motion if the fee is going to stay the same for now. Ms. Grace referred to the policy and noted that it is necessary for it to be reviewed; it is up to the Board to decide if the fee can be set for multiple years. Dr. Rush indicated that technically this fee should be in the fee structure provided by the institutions. He noted that there is a significant advantage for the state to have a single fee statewide. The Board staff is suggesting that if the Board wants to have a uniform fee, it needs to set it in the individual institutions request each year or set a uniform fee.

Mr. Luna explained that the reason for the \$65 fee is that SDE has had that as a line item budget for dual credit. It was agreed to about 3 of 4 years. A consistent number is important for budgeting purposes.

Provost Baker encouraged the cost study on behalf of the other institutions. He noted there really is no cost-basis to the \$65. It does cost more to deliver dual credit courses which means that the money to deliver those courses is coming from somewhere. An analysis will help make the determination as to what is actually should be.

Board member Atchley acknowledged the tremendous work of Board staff on these two policies and thanked them.

### **BUSINESS AFFAIRS AND HUMAN RESOURCES**

### Section I – Human Resources

<u>1. Amendment to Board Policy – Section II.B. – Appointment Authority and Procedures – First</u> Reading

M/S (Terrell/Luna): To approve the first reading of the proposed amendments to Board Policy II.B.3., as submitted. Motion carried unanimously.

2. Amendment to Board Policy – Section II.M. – Grievance and Appeal Procedures – All Employees – First Reading

M/S (Terrell/Soltman): To approve the first reading of the proposed amendments to Board Policy II.M., as submitted. Motion carried unanimously.

3. Idaho State University – Employment Agreement – Head Women's Volleyball Coach

M/S (Terrell/Atchley): To approve the request by Idaho State University to execute a multi-year employment contract with Chad Teichert, Head Women's Volleyball Coach (1.0 FTE), for a term commencing January 21, 2011 and terminating January 20, 2014, in substantial conformance to the contract submitted to the Board as Attachment 1. Motion carried unanimously.

### **BUSINESS AFFAIRS AND HUMAN RESOURCES**

### Section II - Finance

1. FY 2013 Budget Guidelines – Line Items

M/S (Terrell/Soltman): To direct the agencies and institutions to use the following categories to develop FY 2013 Line Item budget requests:

- Unfunded Enrollment Workload Adjustment
- Center for Advanced Energy Studies (CAES)
- Biomedical Research Collaboration
- Occupancy Costs
- Strategic Initiative(s)

And to direct the Office of the State Board of Education to include the Opportunity Scholarship as a Line Item in the FY 2013 Scholarships and Grants budget request. Motion carried unanimously.

Board member Terrell presented this item. Dr. Nellis noted salaries and CEC are not on the list. Mr. Freeman explained that salaries and CEC are requested as maintenance items, not line items so the institutions can still make those requests.

## 2. FY 2012 Appropriations

## 2a. Information

2b. FY 2012 College and Universities Appropriation Allocation

M/S (Terrell/Soltman): To approve the allocation of the FY 2012 appropriation for Boise State University, Idaho State University, University of Idaho, Lewis-Clark State College, and system-wide needs, as presented on page 3. Motion carried unanimously.

2c. Community Colleges FY 2012 Appropriation Allocation

M/S (Terrell/Soltman): To approve the allocation of the FY 2012 appropriation for the College of Southern Idaho, North Idaho College, and College of Western Idaho, as presented on page 3. Motion carried unanimously.

2d. Allocation of the Division of Professional-Technical Education Appropriation

M/S (Terrell/Luna): To approve the request of the Division of Professional-Technical Education for the allocation of the FY 2012 appropriation detailed in Attachment 1. Motion carried unanimously.

<u>2e. Idaho Robert R. Lee Promise Scholarship – Approve Category A Award</u>

M/S (Terrell/Atchley): To approve the amount of the Idaho Promise Scholarships, Category A, at \$3,000 per year (\$1,500 per semester) for those applicants who are selected to receive or renew the Idaho Robert R. Lee Promise Category A scholarship for the 2011-2012 academic year. Motion carried unanimously.

2f. Idaho Promise Scholarship – Approve Category B Award

M/S (Terrell/Soltman): To approve the amount of the Idaho Promise Scholarship, Category B, at \$200 per semester per student (4400 annually) for those current recipients who maintain eligibility and for qualified first-year entering students under the age of 22 in academic year 2011-2012, and to delegate to the Executive Director the authority to approve adjustments to the amount as necessary resulting from any enrollment changes or holdbacks that may be ordered by the Governor during FY 2012. Motion carried unanimously.

2g. FY 2012 Idaho Opportunity Scholarship

M/S (Terrell/Soltman): To approve the maximum amount of the Idaho Opportunity Scholarship, to be \$3,000 per year (\$1,500/semester) for those applicants who are selected to receive or renew the Idaho Opportunity Scholarship for the Fiscal Year 2012. Motion carried unanimously.

M/S (Terrell/Goesling): To set the Cost of Attendance to be used in the formula that determines the award for the Opportunity Scholarship at a maximum of \$16,500 for the Fiscal Year 2012. Motion carried unanimously.

M/S (Terrell/ Atchley): To approve the student contribution for the Fiscal Year 2012 at \$5,000, and to accept student-initiated scholarships and non-institutional and non-federal aid as part of the student contribution. In cases where further clarification is needed to determine whether aid counts towards the student responsibility, the Board delegates to the Executive Director or his designee authority to make these determinations on its behalf. Motion carried unanimously.

# 3. University of Utah School of Medicine Contract

M/S (Terrell/Soltman): To approve the three-year contract between the University of Utah School of Medicine and the State Board of Education as submitted, and to authorize the Executive Director of the State Board of Education to execute the contract on behalf of the Board. Motion carried 6-0 (Luna absent during the vote).

4. Amendment to Board Policy – Section V.F., Bonds of Other Indebtedness and Section V.K., Construction Projects – First Reading

Board member Terrell invited the VP's of Finance to address this item. Matt Freemen explained that that the current policy on capital projects is not consistent with the Board's preferred practice in terms of the project approval milestones. While institutions generally follow the Board's preferred approval process, the process has never been formally documented nor adopted. The revised policies will provide clarity in terms of the Board's expectations and preferred process for submitting requests for major capital project approval.

Mr. Freeman noted that some policy sections have been moved to make it flow better. He said the substantive changes begin on Tab 4, page 6, with numbers 2, 3, 4, and 5. Section 2 clarifies when the institutions need to notify the Board of plans for major projects. Mr. Freeman noted that there is still work to be done on the point of the pre-planning effort however, in terms of what the institutions must have the ability to undertake in order to have something to bring to the Board.

Mr. Freeman noted number two is approval of the post-plan, number three is approval of planning and design, number four is approval of preliminary financing plans, and number five has two points: first, if the project does not require bonding that project and financing, plans can be done in one step; second, it requires bonding, the institution needs to come back separately for financing approval. Mr. Freeman asked for input related to the design/build. Mr. Soltman asked if it would be advisable to have a separate policy on design/build if it is so different.

Stacy Pearson of BSU said it is a positive move to clarify these steps. She noted that when it comes to the design/build it would be helpful to work on that separately because it is a different model. She noted that the institutions already go through the Permanent Building Fund process and the six-year plan, so it would be helpful to have those processes line up. She noted and item under Tab 4 which reads seven, should read six because that would tie in with the six-year plan that is submitted to the Permanent Building Plan.

Ms. Pearson pointed out a struggle with item two, and how far institutions can or should go before coming to the Board. She explained that a lot of work has been done in order to have clarity about the project for the benefit of the Board before it is first brought to the Board. The problem with this scenario is that if the institution doesn't have a budget and the Board is asking for that detail, it waste time for everyone not to be able to have that information ready. They are

looking for a mechanism that updates the Board on their plans but also allows for the ability to come back with more substantive details. It was also noted under item five, in the last sentence, the two levels can be requested concurrently.

Jim Fletcher indicated that ISU is supportive of the comments made. The separation of the design/build is essential versus the design/bid/build activity. The specification on some kind of pre-spending limitation would be helpful.

Chet Herbst agreed with his colleagues. He noted that the timing and the wording didn't line up with the design/build. The language here is almost like it is two separate languages. He would prefer working with Division of Public Work so we use the same language, same timelines, same schedule, same approval process, and same terms so everyone is on the same page. LCSC noted that many projects fall below the level of having to come to the Board in the first place. In the past week the institutions have received the request from Division of Public Works to submit their plans.

Mr. Westerberg noted that during the robust process, have the limits been considered. The process requires some time. He wondered if the committee discuss those points. Mr. Freeman noted that the numbers have been bumped up last year.

By unanimous request, the Board agreed to return this back to the committee for more work and bring it back to the Board for another first reading.

5. Boise State University – Enterprise System Roadmap Project

This is an information item.

6. Boise State University – OIT Equipment Purchase

M/S (Terrell/Soltman): To approve the request by Boise State University to proceed with procurement of server and data storage equipment from existing State Division of Purchasing contracts for a total cost not to exceed \$1,300,000. Motion carried unanimously.

Ms. Pearson indicated that the source of funds for this purchase is the committed reserve funds. She explained this server will replace their computer equipment that supports the PeopleSoft Enterprise university systems. She pointed out that this kind of effort is planned over the long term and the funds are set aside for it. Student fees are not used for this. Equipment that is replaced will be used elsewhere if possible. In addition, the University has, in the past, donated used equipment to school districts.

7. Boise State University -Bronco Bookstore Lease

M/S (Terrell/Soltman): To approve the request by Boise State University to lease space in the Nampa Gateway Center as provided in Attachment 1, and to authorize the University's Vice President of Finance and Administration to execute all necessary documents on behalf of the Idaho State Board of Education. Motion carried unanimously.

## 8. University of Idaho – McCall Outdoor Science School – Self Support Fees

M/S (Terrell/Soltman): To approve the establishment of a self-support fee of \$14,222 per student FTE to fund the operation of a graduate residency program at the University of Idaho McCall Outdoor Science School (MOSS) in McCall, Idaho. Motion carried unanimously.

Lloyd Mues discussed this item. He noted that the biggest benefactor of this program is the K-12 students. It is a certificate-producing program and it is one of the programs that is very entrepreneurial.

# 9. University of Idaho - Farmhouse Ground Lease

M/S (Terrell/Soltman): To approve the proposed ground lease between the University of Idaho and Idaho Farmhouse Club, Inc., according to the terms submitted to the Board and to authorize the University's Vice President for Finance and Administration to execute the ground lease in substantial conformance with the draft submitted to the Board as Attachment 1. Motion carried unanimously.

## 10. University of Idaho – Railroad Land Exchange

M/S (Terrell/Goesling): To approve closing the modified exchange with Palouse River and Coulee City Railroad under the terms of the Replacement Exchange Agreement presented to the Board, and to authorize the University of Idaho to enter into the site lease in substantial conformance to the form submitted to the Board in Attachment 2. and to authorize the University's Vice President for Finance and Administration to execute the necessary documents for the closing and site lease. Motion carried unanimously.

## 11. Lewis-Clark State College – Parking Easement

M/S (Terrell/Soltman): To approve the granting of a non-exclusive access easement to the owners of the College Place facility parking lot, and to authorize the Vice President for Finance and Administration at Lewis-Clark State College to sign all necessary documents with the private property owners and City of Lewiston on behalf of the Board of Trustees. Motion carried unanimously.

## 12. Lewis-Clark State College – Elevator Replacement Project Loan

M/S (Terrell/Goesling): Finding that the elevator replacement project for the LCSC Center for Arts and History is economically feasible and necessary for the proper operation of the College; to approve the attached Loan Agreement with the City of Lewiston for funds to complete the project and the attached authorizing resolution to accept the proposed indebtedness; and to authorize the College's Vice-President for Finance and Administration to sign any necessary documents on behalf of the Board of Trustees. Motion carried unanimously.

At this time the Board returned to item 10 on the PPGAC agenda.

## **PPGAC**

### 10. Strategic Plans

Board member Soltman provided background details related to this item. Tracie Bent of the Board office discussed the plans of the agencies for the Board. She noted that it is important to note that the strategic plan process and the accreditation process differ. The strategic plan sets goals and outlines points on how to achieve those goals. The accreditation process looks at the institution's mission statement and whether it is meeting the mission of the institution. She reminded the Board that the mission statements will be reviewed in June along with the strategic plans.

Ms. Bent briefly reviewed the agency strategic plans. The plans were provided to the Board in their agenda materials. She asked the Board members to make a note of things that they may want to address in the plans so Board staff can address them in June. Ms. Bent pointed out that the objectives that the Board approves will be the objectives the agencies report on in October. In referring to the strategic plan for SDE, it was noted that changes in the plan should be anticipated due to the legislation that was passed this year. Board member Goesling noted that it is important to hear about quality as well as quantity. Ms. Bent noted that they do that; in fact that is more apparent in the agency plans and reports.

Selena Grace reported on the strategic plans for the institutions. She noted she has been working with the institutions to streamline some of the processes that overlap. She highlighted the goals that the institutions have in their strategic plans. She pointed out that in order for the institutions to meet the accreditation requirements, significant time and resources will be need in order to make the necessary revisions in time to meet the June Board meeting due date.

Board President Westerberg noted that what he heard today is that the next job of the Board is to conduct an audit or review of the institutions to see how they comply with the current policy. Secondly, the Board needs to look at future steps after the mission statements have been revised. Mr. Westerberg reiterated that the next step is to look at how the institutions are performing under the current plans and then see where the Board wants to go after that.

Mr. Edmunds raised the issue about target numbers pointing out that those don't show up in the plans. He said he doesn't know the answer or how to get there. Mr. Westerberg noted that when BSU submits its new strategic plan, the Board needs to review that and that is the time to speak out about changes. The Board can ask them how they contribute to the 60% for example.

Ms. Bent offered that the 60% goal is the Board's goal and that will be something that Board will look at in terms of performance measures. Mr. Edmunds asked if the expectation is that the student retention goal will roll up to the Board's plan. Mr. Westerberg noted that the institutions can speak to how they are working towards that goal.

Back to the research example and duplication of effort and supporting all of those things, the question came up as to whether the Board should wait for the institutions to bring those things to forward or should the Board ask for it from them.

It was reiterated that if there are goals that the Board wants the institutions to incorporate and it needs to let the institutions know that. In that way there is both top-down and bottom-up exchange.

Board member Terrell noted he would like to see the breakdown of information and also have a copy of the PowerPoint because it would be helpful to him in reviewing the individual plans.

Mr. Westerberg indicated that the plans all come back in June. Ms. Grace noted that the institutions have been working on how to meet the NW accreditation requirement; they've been working on mission statements and the direction of the strategic plans. All of their plans align with the Board's goals. Mr. Westerberg noted that the mission statements are the meat of what the Board expects the institutions to be doing. He asked if the mission statements will go to IRSA or CAAP before they go to the Board. Ms. Grace noted they will go to the Presidents' Council first and then PPGAC.

Mr. Goesling would like to see in each institution's strategic plan reference to how it relates to the plans of other institutions as well. Ms. Bent noted that as the Board members look at the plans in more detail, if there are any questions or concerns let her or Ms. Grace know so they are prepared to answer those questions at the June meeting.

Mr. Westerberg noted that the May meeting usually has time set aside for Board discussion of topics. He asked the Board members to let him or Mike know what topics they might want to discuss informally.

### **OTHER BUSINESS**

There being no further business a motion to adjourn was entertained.

M/S (Terrell/Atchley): To adjourn at 1:35 p.m. Motion carried unanimously.